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The youth was proud of what it has achieved and this
negative attitude of the Vest actually was helpful to

the communists only. The communiste could point out the
hostile attitude of the West towards he new Hungarian
generation. I firmly belleve that this Western sttitude
actuelly is more responszible for the snti-Western feelings
of these young people than the antiWe:tern communist pro-
paganda. The talk about liberation ba:kfired. People who
believed in libLeration got finally disappointed and de-
veloped bitter fealings sgainst the W:3at. I know of

cases where parents did nol enroll their children in the
school thinking that it wlll be better for them to wait
until liberation. When the) rea.ized thebt their hopes

are in vain, all what was loft vas resentasnt.

The period of incubatl on before the revolution was

mainly one of confusion, This c:nfusion began wiwvh the
death of Stalin. Thes mystericus circumstances of Sinlin's
death. The ramors about his murder. The faet that the;
learned about his desath from fo»zign broadcasts before
the official communisi announcerent. All this confused
the faithful couwmunists., The nou-communists, of course,
took advantage of © his confusion. They needled the party
secretzries, who for the firgt 5ime did not have the

right answer. Speaking about thz non-communists I shnulﬂ

peint out that their rejoicing proofed itself premature,
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They developed a sort of irrealistic view of the situ-
ation. Hany thcught that with the death of Stalin the
end of communism is approaching. They took the offen-
sive agalnst the party members, but when the expected
spectacul.r events, that is to ssy the end of communism,
did not show up, these non-communists were greatly dis-
appointed. I would say that the party regained control
under Imre Nagy's regime. True, 1. re Nagy's gov't re-
laxed contrels on the one hand, but it stabilized the
regime alsc on the other. This is not to say that Nagy
succeeded in solving the problems Hungary was confronted
with. Much confusion remained in communist ranks, but
confusion was the order of the day among non-communists
too, The fall of Nagy and the return of Rakosi to power
intensified this two-way confusion. Confusion grew even
stronger after the 20th party congress early in 1956.
From then on, however, in communist ranks confusion was
coupled with concern and fear, whereas among the opponents
of the regime, confusion was coupleéd with greater bold-
ness. Boldness took the lead with the June meetings of
the Petdfi circle, The impact of these June meetings on
Hungary was comparable to the impact Hrushev's speech

at the ebruary congress of the Soviet communist party
had on Hussia. Here is also iﬁz}bEginning of the role
the writers have been playing in the Hungarian Revdution,
becagse it is only after these June meetings that the
writers began to have an impact on the broader masses.
It is the writera who finally transformed this situation

which I called confusion, into an explogive sgituation,
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out of which the revolution ensued. The spark of the
explosién was furnished by Gerd. (Interviewer's Note:

Here the respcndent referred to the well-known fact about
Gerd's role following Rekosi's dismissal as rarty secre-
tary. Respéndent refsrred also to the Rajk funeral and

to the Polish events connecting these in a familiar way
with the events in Hungary. This answere covered point ¢
and e in question No.2,)

Bafore the June meetings of the Pattfi cirele, an article in
the Irodalmitt jvag impressed me very much. It dealt
with the well-known peem of the Polish poet Wasyk. I think
the author of the artiecle was Tardos. The title of the
&rticle was "The Waters of the Sea are Salty" The artiele
dealt with the gemeral state of dissatisfaction, or at-
least this is how I unders.cod it. During the revoultion,
the poem by Kucka impressed me most. The title of the poem
was "Forgivenness"., In this poem Iuncka asked the Hungarian

youth for forgivenness, acknowledging his mistakes.

In discussing the major factors leading to the revolution, I
w ould mention the followings in this order:

First, political terror, Iwo, the eritieal econumic si-
tuation. Three, the great differernce in the standard of
life of the privilered communigt elique and the rest of

the people. lour, econfusion within the party. Flve, the

role of those writers who ereated anexplogive situation.
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On Cet 23rd the feeling was overwhelming in Budapest,

that Gerd in his broadcast scheduled for the evening,

will announce kls resignation and that Imre Nagy will
becowe Prime llinister. As a result, the regime was in

a state Jf paralysis. The supporters of the regime
themgalves were expecting 2 change. 'his was one reason
why the control system collapsed so easily. I would com-
pare this situation to an inter-regnum and while the re=-
zime has heen parslyzed, the students took action; thus
the confusion of the regimewas complete. If you think of
the paralysis of the regime on {2 .ne¢ l.and and the action
taken by the students on the othery juu can easily see how
the contrel system could collapse so easily. 4s to Imre
Nagy's iwjpCpging reiurn to power, I would like tc mention
one of the conversations I have had with him towards the
end of Yeptember. H e told me then,"there is no need to

be impatient. Only & few weeks andeverything will be in
order. I will be scon rehabilitated by the party,"Nagy
said. He did not say so many words that he will be

appoinied Prime !Hdnister, but it we~ =~y feeling that he

i

waa referring to this, ur at least, this is how
stood his words. But ithere were many other people who

felt the same way as I did.

The mzin purpose of the demonstrations of Oct 2J3rd was

the desire cof the students teo make their demands known.
They wanted publicity; since they were unable to get the
press and the radio to publish ftheir demands, they appealed

to the public in a direct way.
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They had no forum and they created one for themselves.

Of course, that they dared to put pressure on the gov't

in such a way was proof of the general confusion that
reigned in Hungary at that time.

I would characterise the stages in the following way:
Flrst, silent demonstration. Then, noisy demonstrations.
Finally, strcet fighting. I have been an eye-witness of
these stages. I have been with the demonstrators on

Oct 23rd in the company of an Austrian journalist. Turing
the great student demonstration at the cew 8tatue, I have
seen how the peaceful demonstration has been transformed
into a revolutionary demonstration. This is how it
happened: Across from the statue is the Hadik barracks.
The windows of the barracks were closed, but beyond the
windows one could see nothing but the heads of the soldiers
tensely watching what was going on. At one point the stu-
dents turned towards the barracks and becan to shout "You
are not with us? Aren't you Hungarians?" The windows were
thrown open and the scldiers were waving. 4 little later,
in one of the windows a soldier unfolded a Hungarian flag
and with his pocket knife he cut out the Soviet emblem.
THs was perhaps the turning point of the - statue demon-
stration. The air became filled with revolutionary tension.
The climax was when a soldier appesared on the roof of the
barracks; in his hands was a piece of pager. He unfolded
the paper and held it high above his head. On the paper
there was = crude sketeh of the Xossuth emblem, which

became the symbol of the revolution.
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The crowd on the sguare and the soldiers in the wibndows

of the barracks sang several times the Hungarian Fational
Anthem. It was at that point that lhe slogana arose "Let's
go to the Parliament building!®

The people who opposed the Revolution formed the core of
the Communiot regime. Among them “were simple, humble
Party people who got scared. I ean give you an exaumple.
During the Bem statue demonstrations I called up one of my
friends, a girl of 19 who was a Party member, and explained
to her what was going on #t the Bem statue and told her to
come and Join the demonstration without delay. Ier reply
was: "I would not go. Lveryone of you will be earried
away by the AVO!"

ihe neutral were again simple pariy members and some
non-party meubers, who had jobs and who were concerned
about locsing their jobs, who were afraid of the conse-
quences if they joined thz Revolution. A neutral attitude
was taken also by the Maszek segment of the population.
They were doing relatively well and they were not willing
to take chances.

First there were the populny slogans whiech invited the
people to join the Revelution. These were the following
slogans, most often hecrd at the beginning of the Revo-
lution on Oct 23rd. Suech as "You are not Pungarians?" or
"Who is [lungarian with us!" or "Hungarian uniform for the
Hungarian soldiers!" or another slogan which was born
during the Reypiwiiw Bem statue demonstratlon, slogans
which became more and more revolutionary, such as. "The

Hungarians don't need Pufajkas!®
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Pufajka is the name of the Russian soldier's uniform,
worn also by the Hungarian Army. The other distinct group
of slogans were those which contained the demands of the
revolution or attacked ths system. Among these slogans
the most important was, of course, the following "Russians
&0 homel® "Down wity -the AVO'. There were more radical slogans
later on, of course, during the demonstr.tions of 23, 24

of October. An importent slogan high-lighting the radi-
calization of the demonstrations was #Me one the crowd

at the Parliament Square demonstrations on the afternocon

of October 23rd shouted back at Imre Nagy when he

appeared at the Parliament's balcony and addressed the

crowd: "Dear Comrades!" The crowd shouted back "We are

no comrades. Ve are Hungarians!" I went with a crowd

from the jc; square later that day to the Parliamnet

Squeres end T was present also when theStalin statue was
pulled down. Whil«c somes workers were busy adjusting

cables on the 3talin statue, atheggﬁga&ring down from

the [0 bdlding across the square where Stalin's statue
atood. the red star. Thus new glogans were born, such aa:
"Down with the red star!" also from the Stalin statue

phase of the revalutini?I have never heard agair the

Russians being referred to as Russians. Rather (Lo

word Ruszkill was being used. This term had an insuit-

ing overtone. I would like to point out alseo that the
destruetion or the pulling down of the Stalin statue

was an important turning point of the revolution, because

i1t was at the Stalin statue that the workers of Budapest

appeared on the scene.
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Until then the demonstrations were mostly lead by the
students. The slogans I have heard around the Stalin
statue can 1llustrate this change. There, the erowd

was shcutin. for the worker! Rope for Stalin!"

I think until the first shot was fired at the radio
building on the night of Oct 23rd, the revolution was

not anti-Communist. It was directed against the AVO,

but not against communism as such. I. think an important
factor which turned the revolution into an anti-communist
one was, that the Gerd regime turned against the events

of Oct 23rd. This embittered the dissatisfied communists

In the beginning the seacbidaafies were frightened and
stayed home. later they were passive onlookers. In the
final phase, of course, everyone participated without

distinetion, including so-called reactionaries, perhaps.

I have said already that on Oct 23rd I was actively par-
ticipating in the event. I was at the Ben statue; then T
went to the Parliesment Square and to the Stalin Square,
where the Stalin statue stood and then to the radio sta-
tion. Until the end of the square demonstr-tions the
Austrian newspaperman was with me, Later Mr. Benkd, my
present husband, joined me and I stayed with him thru
out the rest of the day, going from one place to the
other. Here I would like to account a very interesting
event, which happened on Oct 23rd. In the morning I
visited I.re Nagy. I knew him well. Iy acquaintance with
him began earlier in the year of 1956, when I first
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called on him to ask his help in some peasant problems

we have had in Bekes, this is where I come from. The
trouble we had in Bekes was this. The peasants had

heavy taxes to pay. They did not have the money and the
tax people took the roof(tiles ) off from the peoples
houses. I knew that Imre Hegy was helpful in a similar
situation to the psasants in TADAV.. I y=.Yhen I called

on Nagy's, his wife met me at the door. I told her that

I had s peasant problem I would like to talk to Mr. Nagy.
Mrs. Nagy called from the door to her husband, =saying

"A young girl is here with a peasant problem!" I heard

IIr. Nagy's voice "Let her in!" Thus began my acquaintance
with Mr. and Mrs. Nagy. I was on intimate terms with both
of them. lirs. Nagy was a peasant girl. Her maiden name
was Sarolta EGETD

In the course of the next monthes I saw the Nagys rather
frequently. My purpose of going to see Nagy on the morning
of Oet 2%rd was (i% was very early in the morning around

7 o'clock) that I should arrange & meeting between Mr.Nagy
and some of the small hpolderparty politicians, who antl-
clpating impending changes were becoming active and“ware
anxioue to meet lir. Nagy. Among them were my present
Husband, Mr. Benkd, lir. Nyeste (Interviewer's Note: We
made an interview with Mr. Nyeste.), Ur. Jonas, Hr. .-
EH“SZTﬁEﬁi Mr. Zimanyi and Dr. Varge. Nagy told me that
the meeting for the aftsrnoon would be alright with him.
Hus ge wany tilangs heppened “-° LY sarly woralag meeting
meeting wiin .. w98 Uy 23TA afu s owedde oon I

SRPICI L Ak
in the afternoon that I
~—wee returned to Mr, Nagy's apartment to ask him whether the
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appointment could be kept. WVhen I arrived at his house
ther: were great many people and cars. People standing
around, going back and forth thru the open door of the

house. I could not even see Mr. Nagy. - . -
It vas easy to draw
conclusion that the appointment could not be kept. Now
to continue “hat I have been doing on Oct 23rd. All day
long I was with the demonstrators and returned home on
that night around 2:30 a.m. (Interviewer's Note: Ses
question No.3) From Oct 24th to Nov 4th my apartment
in the viei utea » where I had also ny fashion salon
called =~ .=r: , was a busy place. It was not customers,
of course, who came back and forth. Dut during the
fighting boys, who were my friends or acquaintances, most-
ly from my home town, slept and ate there and used my
telephone. It went on lilke that until the vietory of the
revolution. Affer the revolution was vietorious, I was
rather active in the political activities. I mean, 1 was

greatly interested in what was going on in the political

life. I was especially anxlous tht a united agrarian party

hould
E come into existence. My opinion was, that it hurt the

interests of the peasantry to have 2 peasant parties, as
we have had after 1945, namely the small holders and the
peasant party. I thought that the ¢ parties should be
united. I belonged to the small holder party and I am
sorry to say that the plan of the union faltered on the
oprosition and lack of understanding of the small holders.
Perty secretary who was second man after

Tivadar Partzy
Béla KOVACS was not sympathetic towards the union.
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Or to put it this way: He was in favor of the union if
the pezssant party had joined the small holder party, But
he disliked the idea of forming a new party after the
Tusion of the two. There were of course small holders who
favored the union. I'm not so well informed what was the
situation in the peasant party. Among the small holder
politicians favoring a reunion among the 2 parties, was
SJandor Kiss. Juring the victorious days of the revolution
I attended on Nov 2nd in the Urania moviehouse the meet-
ing of the former pelitical prisoners. It was a confused
meeting. I was in charge of arranging a meeting of the
former women prisoners and I decided to do a better job.
Nothing came of it, however, because the meeting was
scheduled for the next week and in the meantime the
events of Nov 4th changed completely the situation.

On Nov 4th I was a thome and horror striken I followed the

events of the next deys.

(5) See answers to questions 3 and 4.
(6) N/A
(7) The Budapest Revolutionary Workers Council had the greateat

authority. Next, I think, came the Gers Council and then
the Workere Council in Miskole.

{7a) I knew of a serious confliect between the members of the
Dudas Group and the Maleter Group. It was not so much a
personal conflict between the 2 leaders, but rather

among the people belonging to the 2 groups.
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The conflict had some class overtone, because Dudas re-—
presentved mure the Proletarian,whereas llaleter was re-
garded as the representative of the people above the
proletarians. It is hard to define these distinctions, but
1 think there were distinctions of this kind.What . want
to imply is that there were 2 social eclasses opposing each
other. How far the lack of confidence between the 2 groupe
went? It is interesting to mention, that when Dudas was
negotiating with lMaleter, Dudas' followers went with him
toithe conference room and they were armed with sub-machine
puns. The meeting took place in the Parliament building.

1 think in the background Mr. Tildy was partly responsible
for this conflict. Tildy favored Maleter rather than Dudas.
These things I know from lir. Benkd. As a matter of faet it
wes llaleter and not Dudas who got % popt In CHE EGVE

after its reconstruction during the vietoricus pericd of the
revolution when the gov't became a coalitiion gov't with
the pa;ticipatinn of the different parties. I personally
think that Dudas was & trus popular leader, a leader of
the proletarians. Maleter, on the other hand, was a star.
The star of the revolution I would call him, and I felt
there was something of the opportunist in lNaleter. Maleter
is of bourgeois origin and under thek{’ 1“¥ regime he be-
came an officer. He was wounded on the Russian front in
the Don river area. He was taken prisoner by the Russians
and returned to Hungery in 1945 as a partisan leader.

The story went around that his conversion to Communism

occurrad after he was wounded and his comrade officers

left him on the road altho he implored them to help him.
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This, I am told, aroused a bitter hatred against his
class., But this was alsoc the beginning of his career
under the communistic regime. He divorced his first

wife who left Hungary when the Russians invaded the
country. llaleter married a girl with a good kader. The
girl's father is a doctor, but both the doetor and hi=
wife were of peasant origin. is far as I know Haleter
commander of the Kilian Barracks . ;.gfought agzainst the re-
volution. 1t was more his men, I mean the attitude of his
men towards the revolution that made him change sides.
This is atleast how many of us knew his story. Dudas, on
the other hand, was an engineer who is a Hungarian from
Transsylvania. He was imprisoned for 8 years for his
communist activities in idumania. He became a Hungarian
citizen when lorthern Transsylvania was returned to Hun-
gary in 1940. Aeccording to my informations Dudas was in-
volved in the separate peace nsgotiations the Loty regime
was conducting. Dudas was contacted by the .-y regime in
his capacity as a communist. After the liberation in

1945, that is to say when the luszians occupied Hungary,
Dudas, to my knowledge, did not have a great role in the
communist party. Furtherm re, after the communists estab-
lished their dictatorship, Dudas was arrested. After his
release from prison, which I don't know exactly when it
happened, it must have been sometime after 1953, he

could not get a job as an engineer because of his im-
prisonment and he worked as & worker. This is how he got
30 eclosely attached to the workers and also this is how

he became one of them-
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This is the explanation why he became the leader of the
proletarian segment of the revolution. These informations
are from my friends who knew a lot about polities. I have
had no direct contaect with political affairs, but among

were
my friends/great many politicians.

The Russian troops I have seen on October 24th looked
rather frightened. I think there was a great difference
between the Russians who were stationed in Hungary and
participated in the fightinge after Oct 23rd and those
Russian troops who suvpressed wy ‘he revolution on

Nov 4th. The latter troops were not from the Luropean

parts of the Soviet Unlon. They were from Asia. But their
brutality should not be explained merely by their origin.
They were told that they came to fight against the English-
American agressorg. 1 was present on Nov 11th or 12th, when
a Russian officer told some Hungarians, standing around,gbout
an order issued by the Soviet command tc the troops. The
order was in Russlan, but Hungarians who knew Russian
translated it. I remember one sentence: "The Lngish-Ameri-
can imperialists have attacked Hungary."

I knew one foreign student who fought in the revolution.

He was the son of a woman employee of the Budapest French
legation. “he woman was my customer in my fashion salon

and I know the story from her. Later I talked to ths boy
too. He was studying cinematographie in Budapest and it

was throughjoeininghis friends in the f£ilm studlio that he

g0t involved in the rsvolution. H e was a very brave boy.
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On Oct 25th in front of the Astoria Hotel on Rikbezi
street, I saw when the students attacked a Russian tank.”
The Russians surrendered. The students hoisted a Hungar-
ian National flag on the tank and the Russians themselves
drove the students crowdling the top of the tank, to the
Parliament Square meeting, which took place on that day.

During the revolution I was really in the center of events,

because so many people were involved in the fighting and
later in politiecs, who were my friends, and thus I have
gained moet of my informations from them.

I saw the newspapers, I read mostly the headlines. I re-
nember well, very well, it said that the troops of the
UN are at the Austrian border. It appeared in one of the
new papers, I don't remember its name, but I know that it
was published by the Hungarian Army.

Iiost of the news I had I have learnt by word of mouth.

I was listening to domestic broadests., I tuned in to
Bedio Prer llurope especially after November 4th. Remem-
heriing ~ruc Lo el would say that the psychologleal
effect was this: No doubt, America will help you after
the elections. 1 remember inparticular one sentence which
cceurred and re-occurred frequently on the Free Burope
broadcasts. This sentence was: "Only a few more days!™
¥When I think of :his sentence today, I know that what it
meant was that a few more days are left until the elee-

tions.

Lo -




(10)

(10a)

(10b)

(10g)

{10n)

(103)
(10k)

(101)

¥0.219 "A" INTERVIEW oECTION "RY 5B r.18

Put the way these words were uttered definitely, impressed
the people with the idea, that"all what I have to do is to
hold out until the elections." I think this was very ir-

responsible.

First, 1t was paralyzed, then it disintesrated completely,
There was neither a party nor a go¥'t.
With the exception of the police and the trade unions avery-
thing collapsed.

What remained of the party moved from the Party build-
irg in Akadémia utea to a small office in Nidor utea
It was from this office that the communist party afterthe
defeat of the revoluiion returned to the Akadémia utea
building.

The Ministeries did not function during the fighting.
After the victory of the revolution they were ir process
of reorganization., New people came in. Of course they had
no time to funetion under the new leadership.

The local councils weras functioning, but after the victory
of the revolution they supported the new gov't.
The police and the army.
There were great many new organizations. I could list
them, but probably you know all about them and actually

% is mostly the names I know about them. There is no
particular information I can give.
Three groups formed the background of the workers coun-—
cil. former members of the intelligencia who suffered
inprisonment and after their release they were either

workers or sometimes engineers in lower jobs.
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The workers had great confidence in these people and
they elected them into the councils. The 2nd group were
workers who had administrative jobs before, but who were
no exponents of the regime, that is to say they were re-
garded as decent.
The third group was from the rank and file of the
massas of workers.
A multi-party system, out of which a coalition gov't would
have been formed.

5,
I think of it a great deal, indeed.
I+ was useful, because it opened the eyes of the West.
The West before the revolution believed that communism
in Hungary had a considerable support. They paid un-
fortunately a very great price. *isenhower told the
captive nations they should prove that they are against
communism and than the West will help them. We showad
enough proof of ocur copposition to communism. We received
rno help, but the Wast perhaps knows now better that
Communism hés no support in Hungary.
Before the Suez action, I think there was a chance for the
revolution to succeed. Suez was a turning point. Until
then the Russians were on the withdrawal-
We were sure of Weatern help. As I have said befors, we
believed what Lisenhower told us. I don't remember whether
Eisenhower said everything as I remember him saying. In
any case this was the psychological affect of the American

-

propaganda.
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When the Russians attacked on Nov 4th, irrespective of
what the Ameriean propaganda said before or at that

time, we could not believe how the West could let the
Ruesiane murder Hungary. How could such a thing happen
in the 20th century??? Our faith in the West was
strengthened by the radic broadeasts. Vhat kind of help
did we expect? Some peoplethought that the USA will help
militarily. Gthefs believed that the Americans would make
a deal with the Russians. They will promise economic help
to the Russisns and in return the Russians will evacuate =
Hungary.

As I have said before I knew I. re Nagy personally. I
think he was not suitable for a fighting situation. He
is a scholar. -~ man~ifist.

Dudas, Me.- vace Bela,

voigets
In the fﬂllf.lw.l.uE, oaers: 5,] 1p 4‘1 39 2a

I left in Descember.

I decided to leave in November. I was =& member of the
group which made anti-Russzian leafleta. One member of
our group has been betrayed and arrested. He sent out
word from the prison thet the AVO knows all about our
group, otherwise he could not have been betrayed. I
decided to leave right away.

With my mother with whom I was living.

My fiancee, llr. Benkd, was sbroad. I wes anxious to join

him and marry him,
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As a graduate of gymnasium I enrolled in 1946 at the diplo-
matiec academy. I was very much interested in intcrnatilonal
affairs and T intended to become A professional diplomat.
However, I finished only one year of the diplomatic adademy,
receiving a diploma in what was called "Parliamentary steno-
typlct". Afterwards I got involved in nolitics and during
the eleection campaign in 1948 I was organizer for the
Pfeiffer party in Bekes county, which was my home county.

As & result of my politicsl activities I was imprisoned

for almost a year in 1948/49, After release from prison I
took secondary jobs as typist and steno~typist, but because
of my bad kader I was fired severzl times. To improve my
kader I got & ronderful idea. I took a Zlider pilot

coursce, 8ltho this was rewtricted to reliable party members,
I succeeded to get in, becausc the trainers of the glider
pilot school were acguaintancss of mine, I received a di-
ploma &s glider pilot and as a pupil of fhe Hungarian
Avistion Associabtion I ot something what 1 needad to im-
prove my kader. I was now a sport flyer and since only re=
liable people could become sport flyers, my chances to get

& good job had improved considerably. With the help of ny
improved kader, I applied for a job inthe Hinistry of heavy
industey. I have held this job for 3 years, from 1951 - 54.
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Now about this job I held at the llinistry of heavy industry.
I was working in the divieion for the distribution of
materiale and commodities. This was a division whieh employed
avout 120 people. I was & referent. [his was quite an
lmportant position. I hed been working hard and had accuired
a contiderable knowledge which, I think, qualified me as an
experi. I should say that not all the 120 people oun our
division would have gualifisd &s experts, not more perhaps
thandyu or 50 peoplz in cur division really understood

what they were doing. The rest of the people ot their

Jjobs because of guod atanding with the regime.

The offices were (vercrowded. The office equipment and

maintenance was 1-ither crude.

I have been interested inh my job and I liked 1t. However,
I did not fiecl quite safe. I was afraid that they will
find out atout oy bad xader. I was learning sewing whila
I held this job and under Inre Nagy's regime, when the
private ecetor of she sconomy was revitalized, I decided
to becouwz an inderendent aeamstrees, and to open a fashion
studis. I opened & siudlo in 1954 and I was luecky indeed,
that I did so. Because, when I was ready to leave the job
with ths Linistry of heavy industry, they found out zbout
ny past and they have fired me.

A 1 have said, working conditiona ware not too zood be-
wause of obsolete office equipment and overcrowdedness.

I worked 12 to 135 hours a day. 4s everyone else, I worked

6 days a week.

e
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(30) I had the usual benefits, including mediecal care snd va-—
cations in the specially assigned resort places. I took
advantagze of going once to the very nice resort place of

¥cekes in the Metra mountains.

(4a) Az 1 have said, on our division at the Hinistry of heavy
industry thers were about 120 employees. I would say that
ouly 4 of them belunged to the same soclal class ae I
did and only those 4 shared my politierl opinions. On the
technical lavel thers were good many people who did not
heve the qualificaiions for the kind of work they were
deing. On administrative level there were good many of
working elass keder, who zot their Jjobs because of their
sceial status. I chould say, however, in all fairness to
them, that many were decent and hard-working people. They
Atudied at evaning courses and acquired the qualifieations
which they needed.

(4b) Relations ameng the employees were filled with suspicion.
In general, there was fear hanging over the »lace. People
were reserved end thsn tooc, you did not have nmuch chance
to get to know each other because of the frequent trana-
fers. One employee hardly held a job for longer than
half a year or 3/4 of a year. Thie was the policy af the

regime in order to prevent tha people to get to know

each other. That T siaved np t!- 4rbh ¥or 3 vears was
rather urus.

OWeEd L, L owal.ogve, bo thie fazot that T was
rather good oo o, oo ..o Lravues wonsbion that L

first was a typist, 4 steno-typist, and it was somewhat

later that I became a2 referent, as I have already desecribed it.
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The trade union collected dues, otherwise they did not

do anything.

Az everywhere else, we had a shop triangle too.

Among the 120 people in our division there were, I guess,
slx whose only joov was t0 gupervise the employees.

I suspected that there was an AVO informer at our place

of work. She was a typlst.

fou could not change, of course, jobs according to your
1ikire, The 72=! ovrohlem, 1 should say, was how to keep
coar 3ok o, n0f how to changeeile. Beecause of the many
transfers which I have mentioned sariier. If you wanted

to chanse the job, it was not very possible unless you

had good party connections,

If I had been free to cheoose my work, I would have be=-

come = diplomat. Diplomacy was what I was really interested
in.

I would buy a recordplsyer, thousands of records, many,

many books snd then I would like to have children.
Ko, I would not have wanted my children to do the same

kind of work I was doing, becausge it did not make me

happy.

Until 1948 1 did not% have any sarticular problems. The

situation changed, however, after my imprisonement. The

period following my release from prison was niserable,
employed

Between 1951 and %4, while I was/at the Hinistry of heavy

industry, I earned what I would call a minimum to keep

me aliva.
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“hen I opened my feshion studio in 1954 the first years
were very hard. It was m.sery again. Conditions have
improved in 1656 when my business began to flourish and

I was able to live well shove the average standard of

In 1947 I did not have any job. In 1952 I made 1,140 f%t.
In 1955 about 600 ft. In 1556 1 made 2,400 f£t. The two
latter figures refer to the period when 1 have opened

my fashion studlio.

As I have said, in 1956 my income from my fashion studio
was 2,400 ft monthly.
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As Lo conditions before 1941, I don't know much about
them because I was too young at that time.

After 1944 conditions have deteriorated.

Lhe private sector showed & thriving tendency and it
enjoyed very great popularity.

The last year before the revolution conditiovis have

improved.

WMaterial conditions were an important factor, but 1
thirk the more important source of dissatisfa tion was
in the politiecal conditions. imterial condiiins only

inereagad the dissstisfaetion.
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for schooling sce answer to question (1) in Seetion "W",

bame as abhove,

Until my impriscnment in 1948 I have received every
schoolinz that I wanted. After my imprisonment I
sufiered diserindnstion on account of my bad social
and volitical kader.

e, 1 414 not have the same opprortunity.

dhen I went to school in 1046, Marxism had not been
taught yet se a specicl subject. However, in political

seonony we ware taught quite a bit Harxist doetrines.

the main objective of communist education was to kill
national ssntiments. Ancther objective was to make the
student lmiune sgailnst capltalist ideas. To make them
vlind fellowers of larxism,

For laclk of parsonal experience I rsally would not be
able to answer thess gquestions.

JAalle SASWers.

WMy father 4%l irn 19471, Pe was a ghoemaker.

He lived & little better than the average.

1 wag an only child.

My father died, my mother lived with me in Budapest.

Aa 1 have said, lived with my nother.
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Iy social orizin was to my disadvantage, especlally after
the second marriage of my mother in 1949, She married a

man of bourgecis background.

I have bzen married for 10 months in 1951, My paerriage
anded in divorce.

HYA

n/a

ihe relations with my mether were very good.
ile spoke about everything.

H/A

L lived with my nother and relations betwcen us were very
inflwake

Family life in geaneral moved in 2 extreme directions., 1%
was elthar very inlimate or very locee. My relations to
my mother would put ve in the first category.

Unzil 1954, while I wasg .mployed in the linistry for
heavy incdustry, 1 had more fine to he with friends. Thus,
pociel life fillsd my lsisure time. after 1954, when 1
cpened qy fashion studio, I was working too hard. I had

hardly tine for leisure aid for friends.
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Until 1954 1 had te be very careful. After 1954, how=

ever, I waa fros to do whatever I wanted.

Femily tie: have lossened.

Children got out of control of their parents.

vourtship ir the old sernse of the word almost disappearsd,
The young peorle wara more opcnly then before interestad
in sex. ke rezine's mass crgenizations included both
boys and Jirls:. There was no contrel over their intep—
coursey eaveclally during execuraions and campings.

There wam & great deal of laxity. I remember boarding
cnee &n excurcion Srein by misteke and I was appalled
by the behavior of young boys and girls. Another new
aspect of courtship was thatl the young people were
playing safe politieally. Phey avoided those whom they
did not consider likemindiea politically Another

aspect worth mentioning is that it became generally &
cuatom that boys ard eirls, when they went out togsther,
paid their bills seperatsly. Aa to merriage, they were
1ightly concluded and lightly dlesolved. an invortant
factor in marriage wes the economiec one. Since, as a
rule, both man and wife were working, marviages often
were coneluded in order fo maks life easier. Living by
two was nore econcmisal.

Frostitution was abolighed by law. But inreality i%
flourished more than sver before. lany fTormer progti~
tutes, because they were of workinz class origin, got

Jobe. But they did not fail to continue their old trade.
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Many a former prostitute was the girlfriend of her boss
at her working place.

The comnunists were ten itimes as strict, formally at least,
about sexual matters, but in practice they were atleast
100 tines less strict than the authorities befors.

The eaquElization of illegitimate shildren advanced so much
that one did not notice any more the illegitimate birth
of & person.

The egualization of women changed their statusi;from the
point of view of family life thie change was bad. The
good thing sbout this was that both man and wife were
workinz. Thie made life for the femily, economically at-

least, much easiser.

The general state of norals sunk considerably.

I'm thinking of & friend whom I had met Lefore 1945.
Sporta, goiny out together.

I value most in a friend character and mental ebility.
My elrele of friende was mede up mostly of people who
did not suceeed urder the communist regime.

I+ did not kappen. It ie hard to answer this guestion,

because so nuch would have depeanded upon circumstances.

lly parente were Lutherans, I received a very therough
religious eduecation, but apart from that, I am religious
by nature. 1 am lad that I am a Protestant. I think that
T avoided conflicte which I would have faced had 1 been

a Catholie.
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In my experience the catholics werc more bou to go
into extremes. They either became wvery bigotted or they
loat falth. ‘he protestants could keep easier the con—
tinuity in their religlous life.

¥hat 1 have said answers this gusstion.

The communist rule affected religious 1life in 2 different
ways. On the one hand it encouraged indifference. This was
true about the young people and also about people who did
not consider seriously their religion before. On the other
hand, persecution of religious life intenaified religious
convictions and I think this was the case with the majority
of the population.

I do not think that the communiste really wanted to stamp
out religion. *hey rather tried to use religinﬁ for their
own ends. This they were trying to do in particular thru
the institution of peace priests.

In zeneral the peace priests were the people without
prineiples. Perhaps I would set up 2 ecategories, however.
In the first category I would put those priests, who served
the regine out of diplomacy. They thought what they are
doing is zood Zor the church. The second category con-
tained the opportunists who served the rezine out of

wesknes o
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(20£) Ho, one could not., Those who attended church services
were labeled clericals and such an entry in your kader
meant trouble.

(201) People who attended chureh most frequently were the
peasants. The people who attendd church least frequent-
ly were the youth.

(20k) It means less.

(201) Directly the church played no great role in fostering
political oppodtion Indirectly, however, it played a
greater role because it intensified religious life and

religion was a force in opposition to the regime.

(21) I would advise a technieal occupation. Good trainingg
because knowledge is something even the communiste
eppreciate. Knowledge can even improve a bad kader-

liy general advise would be to live cautiously.

(22) Best off are party functionaries, the new intelligencia
in leading economic jobs, sportsmen, artists and some
writers who served the re ime. Their number was not so
great, this is why I list them after the sportsmen and
artists who were more numerous. The privileged position
of the writers, those that is. who served the regimg, was,
however, betler even than that of the sportsmen snd artists.
lastly, the people in the private segment, laszelk, that is.
How worst off, the peasantry. the workere and people liv-
ing on pensions.

{22a) I belong to the Maszek group.
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I got my informations mostly from the Ioreign radio.
T11l 1948 I was alsn receiving the news bulletins from
the .merican Legation in Budapest. I s tended alao the
meetings in E-% aulture room of Loth €12 American and
English Legation up to 1948. I 1liked t¢ talk also to

pecple who travellea obreads

I dld net read the nessapers ro/ularly. 3 1956 I was

reading the Irodalmil Ujsag and alse the Heufdi Hirlap

ratoer re ulecly. 1 gluaced a1 11z Szabad Nep, esneciale

iy whian I wiae in the Tinistry. I '1d so, becargg I had
ow What Lue pariy's noint ol vievw was.

Jomatimes. Wi T receldwved Lhem [rom people travslling

ahrnad .

L wenl seldgow o the movigdy dno % yvarg perheps 3 Limig,

b rays untal T8%4, when e In the linistry.
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T %rerit Lo 4 sabnr o sz Preguently after 1954,
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BBC, Paris, .ree ~urape.

Order of reliability the same.

From my cirele of friends very often.

I did not find them reliable at all.

I think the people tricd hard to be well informed.

The droppin: of the atomie bomb was terrible, hut 1
think it was necessayr from a nilitary point ol view

and I appoved of it.

The Russians by way of China and WJorth Korea.

It was a lie.

1 believe that in & war between the West and the Yoviet
Union Gerauny would carry the most of the struggle, 1
meun that it would be Zernany above all vho would be
fighting. Yot that we li'ted this situation, but whoever
could be fishting the ussians would be pood for us.

We could not bLe choosy.

The Tree curope balleoons caused only harm.

The Berlin riots of 195% aroused hopes and inereased the
snirit of resistance in spite of the foct that the
uprising was unsuccesaful wnd that the west did not
help. I thourht this will be only the beginaing of some-
thin,” more s-rious.

Before the swwmiilt meetineg there were pgreat hores. In-
terestingly, cven after the summit meeting there were

some people who continued to be hopeful.
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For instance; som= people thought that Krushev's anti=-
Stalin move wam a2 result of the tanava confsrance.

The resuli of cmigre activities wag 4810, Their behavior
was disillusioning. | huve faithn only in the voung

mambars of Lhe amisration-
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Exploitation and party dictatorship should be abolished.
The school reforms were basically good. 1 believe in
state support of education. #lso the machine stations
are good. The state should maintain them. It benafits
the people. Finally, all social welfare institutions.

There should te three, four political parties. More
partles cause confusion. These are the 4 parties I have
in mind: A united agrarian party, & social democratic
rerty, a Chriatian democratic party and there should be

a communist party too.

I am in favor of no curtailments.

No.

Yes.

Yes.

If the gov't does not serve the interests of the people
‘a justi-

and i1s unwilling to resign, an ar

fied, I think,

First, wages should be just. Two, agriculture should be
placed into the hands of small holders. If small holdings
are not -iable, in the beginning especially, the state
should help them. Three, trade should be free. Four, re-
gulation of classes. Five,radical changes in foreign

trade. Under the communists prices were too low.
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I am in favor of it.

Small factories should be restored to their former owners.
Private profit is good. But the development of huge, pri-
vate companies should be prevented by law.

State monopolies, as under the communist rezime, are bad.
But I believe the exploitation of natural resources is the
rasponsibility of the state. Also, communication should be
state-owned; also public. tilities should be public.: .
owvned, I bellieve in collective enterprise whenever it

gerves the public good.

Light industry, provided that it is limited to small fac-

tories is desirable.,

I disapprove of gov't planning on the scale the communiste

ara doing 1it.

Family and religion.

Citizens have ag many duties ts. the state as the state

has ts8. the eitlzens.

Tor those strata of the population which were oppressed

before the war, the situation has improved.

They have more opportunity.
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Worse.
Better.
Better.

Those who had it better before the war are worse off to=-
day. /And vice versa, those who had it worse before the
war, have it better today.

Better.

Better.

Inereased considerably.

The workers should participate so as to defend thelr right-

ful intereasts.

The experts.

Collective Tfarms are bad.

shouid be dissolved, but those small holdings whiech are
not 4abkle, sheuld form, if they so wish, cooperativas.
Yes, 500 hectars.

Should be restored.

The stete should help small holdings needful of assistance.
The state should maintain them for the benefit of those

who need them.

State and church should be separated.
Institutions of higher learning should be returned to
the church. »
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I would send my children bo schools maintained by

foreign legutions.

I was a believer in equitable restitution, but only to the
extent that no new chureh bi; estates should come into

existernce.

The case of each Farty member should be tried separately.
Those who committzd crimes should be punished, but I do
not believe in collective guilt,

With the leadecrs I would do the same asabove.

I would put all the members of the AVCO under arrsct and
then try their cases separately as with the Party tembers.

Same proceduws as with the Party.

Hungary made :reat contribusions in painting, poetry,

theater, litoratyre, musie and science.

Of course t-ere is.

I would digsinsuish between the character of the follow-
in: elasse:s: peasants, workers, miners, the other soecial
classes have been mixed together.

Differences before 1945 were praater,

The ;ov'e of TOLEAY.

lnequality was very significant before 1845.

The p:sriod between 1945 and 1948 was better. Both, in
comparison with the period that preceded it and with the

reriod that followed it,;
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Borderlines are important.

The Hungarians have a rightful claim to territory beyond
the present borders, inhabited by Hungarlans. In Trans—
sylvania, Bachks, and in Southern Slovakla.

No.

The anawer is "Danubian Confederation®.

The Russian people are good people, but the communists

corrupted them.

1 was not interested in the theory of Harxism. lhe
Communists made it so disgusting that I did not feel
like paying attention to 1it.

No.

I ldentify democracy with freedom.

In 1945, aftar the first free electionsa.

National commun’em puts the interest® of the nation ahead
of thoae of the communist party.
Only if it is capable of subordinating party interests

to the National interestis.

would
Condltions/hav: heen chaotic until the first electionas.
In the electicrs the small holders and the Chrislbian

democrats 'ould have won the majority.

Until the Tirst elections.
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(29a~f) Bad,

{29h) Good.

(294} Neither good 11+ bad,

(293) The same.

(29k) I don't know bim

(291) Rad.

(29m+n)} Neither gecod had.

{30) Smail kholders znd 4the Christian demnorats.

(30a) I can think of 3 nemes: Bela Kovazos,
Sulyok or Pfelifer.

{(31a) Felow.

(31p) Eelow.

(31¢,d,e,f} Below.

(31g) Above.

(31h+1) Relow,

(32a) Better.

{32b) Fefore 1948 thecs wera no collsabtlee furrars,

(32¢,8:2) Betisr

(32f+g) Worse.

(32n+4) Better.

(335a,b,8.f) Colneids

(33g.,h,1,3) Confliet.

{34) I hed no conczins.
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(35) Lxcept the AVO and the prominent party functionaries

everyone would fight apgainst the regime.

(36) No.
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I would like to ask you a question. Is it true,as
many people in Hungary believed, that 2 days before
Nov 4th, the “merican Embassy in Moscow has notified
Washington about the Ruseian aggression in Hungary?
Interviewer's answer: "I don't know sbout it."

I hope that in one way or another it will econtribute

-to a better understanding of the Hungarian situation.

Yes.

They are very comprehensive gquestione. I hawe no

suggaestion to make.

INTERVIEWER'S RATING: Respondent is full of pep and energy.

T
1 ¥

She, despite of opposition to the communiet regime, knew how

to teke advantage of every opportunity to improve her situation.

She went into private business when the Nagy regime created the

privete segment of national econowy. Inecldentally, she is planning

to open a fashion studio in Munich. She is very talkative and often

seems to take gossip for fact, but I felt no reason to doubt her

frankness.
Rapport znd cooperativeness excellent. Frankness good. No

compliance or flattery noticed.
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